[Frontiers in Bioscience, 6 e93-103, October 1, 2001]

THE ROLE OF BACTERIA IN GALLSTONE PATHOGENESIS

Alexander Swidsinski and Sum P. Lee

Innere Klinik, Gastroenterologie, Charité Humboldt Universität 10098 Berlin, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

- 3. Occurrence of bacteria in biliary tree 3.1. Occurrence of bacteria in bile of healthy persons
- *3.2. Occurrence of bacteria in bile of patients with gallstone disease*
- 3.3. Occurrence of bacteria in gallstones
 - *3.3.1. Scanning electron microscopy*
 - 3.3.2. Transmission electron microscopy
 - 3.3.3. Quantitative PCR
 - 3.4. Occurrence of bacteria in occluded biliary stents 4. Bacterial counts 5. Microbial species identified in bile, biliary tract and gallstone 6. Routes of bacterial infection
 - 6.1. Ascending infection
 - 6.2. Portal source of infection
 - 6.3. Systemic infection 7. Factor controlling biliary infection
 - 7.1. Obstruction
 - 7.2. Foreign bodies
 - 7.3. Host immunity
 - 7.4. Bacterial pathogenicity 8. Mechanisms of bacteria-induced lithogenesis
 - 8.1. Biochemical properties of bacteria contributing to lithogenesis
 - 8.1.1. Beta-glucuronidase
 - 8.1.2. Phospholipase
 - 8.1.3. Bile acids and bacterial hydrolases

8.3. Mucin

- 8.4. Prostaglandin
- 8.5. Cellular inflammatory response
- 8.6. Lipopolysaccharides

8.7. Oxycholesterols

8.10. Intestinal Bacteria 9. Pigment vs. cholesterol cholelithiasis from the developmental point of view. Concluding remarks:

- 9.1. Appearance
- 9.2. Location in the biliary tree
- 9.3. Infection
- 9.4. Calcium bilirubinate
- 9.5. Calcium carbonate 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Bacteria are often found in high concentrations in brown pigment and less so in cholesterol gallstones. Although it is intriguing to hypothesize that cholesterol stone formation is non-bacterial in nature and principally different from the pathogenesis of "infectious" brown pigment gallstones, it is more likely that significant overlap exists between the two processes. Most gallstones are composite in nature. Using molecular-genetic methods, bacteria can be found in most pure cholesterol gallstones (i.e. those whose structure consists of more than 90% cholesterol). The natural history of the gallstones development is unknown. It is likely that brown pigment stones can evolve in their chemical composition after the termination of the infectious process that initiate their formation, and may further develop into either mixed or nearly pure cholesterol stones. In a similar fashion, cholesterol-poor or black pigment gallstones may act as foreign bodies to enhance the propensity of bacterial lithogenesis and resulting in the encasement of cholesterol nuclei with pigment shells and/or in the internal remodeling of extant stones. It is often difficult, if not impossible, to ascertain whether bacterial infection of bile arose before stone formation or *vice-versa*. The development of gallstones (nucleation, assembly of microcalculi, growth, remodeling) includes the interaction of both bacterial and non-bacterial mechanisms, working

discontinuously over years and decades and shaping the structural individuality of each stone. At cholecystectomy, the gallstone removed from the patient represents the end product of a long pathologic process. Although our understanding of the exact temporal contribution of bacteria in lithogenesis is incomplete, it is important for the clinician to realize that most gallstones are colonized by a bacterial biofilm, even though the bile may be culture-negative.

2. INTRODUCTION

Gallstones may manifest themselves with dramatic clinical features of obstructive jaundice and acute cholecystitis, or they can stay silent or be minimally symptomatic and be discovered only as incidental findings. They may be located in any part of the biliary tract, but are primarily found in gallbladder and less often in the common bile duct or intrahepatic ductal system. Once gallstones are discovered, they may grow, shrink, or remain the same size for years. Additional stones may form, and existing stones may dissolve or be passed. Gas can appear within gallstones on radiography and disappear later. The radiographic lucency changes with time. All these phenomena, known to those who follow their patients over years and decades, indicate that the gallstone structure and composition can fluctuate and that the gallstones do not appear and remain as a final product, but rather are in a continuous process of growth, dissolution and remodeling.

Despite these well documented observations of dynamic structural changes in the development of gallstones, gallstones are traditionally arbitrarily divided, at the time of cholecystectomy, according to their chemical composition, into three main groups: cholesterol (more than 70% cholesterol), brown pigment gallstones (less than 30% cholesterol) and black pigment gallstones (nearly no cholesterol). Other categories of gallstones (to which most stones belong) are described as composite, combined, complex, or mixed. The existing pathogenic considerations are linked to on-cholecystectomy classification, leading to the oversimplified view that considers cholesterol and black pigment gallstones to be exclusively the result of bile supersaturation and brown pigment gallstones as a product of bacterial infection. Actually, we can only speculate about most events in the long process of gallstone formation, and we understand the development of the inorganic earth minerals much better than that of human gallstones.

3. OCCURRENCE OF BACTERIA IN BILIARY TREE

3.1. Occurrence of bacteria in bile of healthy persons

Studies using small numbers of gallbladder bile samples for culture obtained at laparotomy from patients without biliary disease suggested that the biliary tract is sterile under normal conditions (1, 2). Bile culture studies from elective operations and preoperatively conditioned patients, however, can only detect planktonic bacteria. Bile cultures cannot detect sessile bacterial populations associated with the mucosa, and they are unable to determine the true frequency of bacterobilia. In a forensic autopsy study, bacteria were found in 8% of bile and 23% of the gallbladder wall specimens (3). The isolation of bacteria in the fluid always coincided with the presence of bacteria in the wall, but bacteria were found more often in the gallbladder wall than in the bile (4). Many animal experiments on pathogenesis of gallstones are made on mice and rat models. The bile of these animals is normally sterile (5). However, in dogs, beta-glucuronidase active bacteria could be isolated from gallbladder wall (but not from the corresponding bile) in 50% of all animals (6). In sheep, 50 to 75% of slaughtered animals had positive bile cultures (mostly for Escherichia coli) (7). These investigations, using bile specimens at laparotomy, thus were incomplete, and the findings cannot be accepted as definitive.

3.2. Occurrence of bacteria in bile of patients with gallstone disease

Data obtained regarding the occurrence of bacteria in bile from patients suffering with gallstone disease are more substantive. However, since symptomatic patients will be more readily operatively treated than asymptomatic carriers, the statistics to occurrence of bacteria are obviously under selective pressure.

Bacteria are regularly found in bile of patients with brown pigment gallstones [53% (8) - 91% (9) - 100% (10)], especially in cases of choledocholithiasis and hepatolithiasis (11,12). Bacteria are less often found in the bile of patients with cholesterol gallbladder gallstones [24% (8,9)] and black pigment gallstones [9% (9) - 19% (13)].

The presence of bacteria in bile varies according to the severity of the biliary tract disease and obstruction, reaching nearly 100% in cases with acute cholangitis (2, 10). In cases of cholangitis, bacteria are found more often in the gallbladder wall and within gallstones than in the bile (4,14).

Bacteria are also often (81%) in the bile of patients with carcinoma of the gallbladder and gallstones (15) and in all patients with cholangiocarcinoma and hepatolithiasis (12).

3.3. Occurrence of bacteria in gallstones

The presence of bacteria within the gallstones positively correlates with the presence of calcium bilirubinate. Bacteria could be demonstrated within brown pigment stones and in the brown pigment portions of cholesterol gallstones *via* bacterial culture, electron microscopy and molecular-genetic methods.

3.3.1. Scanning electron microscopy

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) demonstrated bacterial microcolonies throughout the interior of brown pigment stones within layers of calcium bilirubinate (16,17) and in the pigment portions of fresh composite (mixed cholesterol) stones, whereas no bacteria were usually found in the interiors of pure cholesterol gallstones (16,18-20). Bacteria are found coating the surface and crevices of gallstones as an adherent film known as biofilm.

3.3.2. Transmission electron microscopy

With transmission electron microscopy (TEM), the structure of the biofilm can be better appreciated. Multiple species of bacteria within brown pigment gallstones appear to be surrounded with polyanionic material, presumably the bacterial glycocalyx (19). This biofilm, composed of a polysaccharide and glycoprotein network, acts as a protective cover for bacteria and allows them to multiply within the hostile environment of the biliary system (21). There is recent evidence, in fluorescence confocal microscopic studies, to suggest that there is a completely different, unique, micro-ecological system within this biofilm environment. The same species of bacteria, in their sessile form, are phenotypically different from the free-floating planktonic ones, and they induce a low-grade inflammatory response in the surrounding mucosa. They are highly resistant to antibiotics, and it is almost impossible to sterilize the bacterial biofilm. When the stone obstructs a bile duct or the cystic duct, cytokines from the biliary epithelial cells can presumably activate these sessile forms of bacteria. Dramatic intracellular genetic and enzymatic, as well as phenotypic, transformation can occur, leading to an aggressive inflammatory outcome with suppuration and sepsis. When cholecystitis, cholangitis or biliary pancreatitits occurs as a complication of gallstones, the bacteria found in bile, pancreatic secretions and blood are almost always identical to those found in the biofilm (22, 23).

3.3.3. Quantitative PCR

Using quantitative PCR with primer universal for bacteria based on the sequence of 16S ribosomal RNA genes, bacteria at concentrations corresponding to $10^3 - 10^6$ cfu/gr could be demonstrated in nearly all cholesterol gallstones, even though they were culture negative. Notable exceptions to these observations were found in stones composed of more than 90% cholesterol, in which such concentrations of bacteria could not be demonstrated. No bacterial DNA was found in corresponding sterile bile. Although there was a positive correlation between occurrence of bacterial DNA and "brown pigment content" (24), there was no correlation between concentrations of bacterial DNA and concentrations of calcium bilirubinate (25). The concentrations of bacterial DNA correlated positively with the histological and clinical signs of cholangitis, possibly indicating that the bacterial DNA found in the gallstones does not represent the ancient gallstone pathology, but rather is evidence of ongoing or recently terminated infection(s). The investigations of the stability of the bacterial DNA showed that the concentrations of bacteria detected via PCR falls within months. After six month of storage at - 20° C, no bacterial DNA could be detected in stones with initial DNA concentrations corresponding to 10^{3} cfu/gr. The DNA could still be found in gallstones with initial concentrations corresponding to 10^4 - 10^6 cfu/gr. However, the bacterial concentrations after storage were significantly lower, on the order of $10^3 - 10^4$ cfu/gr. A similar approach applying PCR based on sequences of the E. coli beta-glucuronidase gene has also been used (24).

3.4. Occurrence of bacteria in occluded biliary stents

Bacteria are always present in outer and luminal surfaces of occluded biliary stents (26). These bacteria again exist in a biofilm, which pose a great challenge to the endoscopist. The blockage of stents by bacterial biofilm, and the accompanying sludge, is the major source of morbidity in patients with stent drainage. Although

antibiotics may slow the formation of the biofilm and adherent sludge, as mentioned before, it is almost impossible to eradicate the bacteria, and repeated stent replacement has become the only option.

4. BACTERIAL COUNTS

When bacteria are present in otherwise uncomplicated gallstone disease, their numbers are usually sparse. Bacterial counts greater than 10^5 viable organisms per milliliter of bile are found mainly in gallstones disease complicated by cholangitis (27). A recommendation to consider only concentrations higher than 10^5 cfu/ml bile as significant is incorrect, since the bile is normally sterile and bile probes are taken under aseptic operative conditions. Similar to microbiologic findings in blood, the significance of bacterobilia cannot be simply correlated with absolute bacterial numbers (28). In cases complicated with acute bacterial cholangitis, bacterial concentrations often reach counts of 10^6 - 10^9 cfu/ml bile, leading to demonstrable effects of bacterial metabolism on bile composition. However, acute cholangitis is only a short episode in the history of gallstone disease, whose significance to gallstone pathogenesis is currently unknown (29, 30).

5. MICROBIAL SPECIES IDENTIFIED IN BILE, BILIARY TRACT AND GALLSTONE

The bacterial species found in the bile of patients with biliary disease (both gallstones and cholangitis) indicate that the intestinal flora is a main source of bacterobilia. Escherichia coli (E.coli), Streptococci or Enterococci, Enterobacter, Klebsiella, Pseudomonas, and Proteus are the species most frequently isolated from aerobic cultures. Clostridium and Bacteroides species are often found in anaerobic isolates. In about half or more of the isolates from bile, a mixed infection is found (9, 10, 31-33). Propionibacterium species were isolated from bile in low frequency and only in single studies (32, 34, 35).

A divergent picture is obtained if bacteria are cultured from the gallbladder, from liver biopsies or from gallstones. Two studies from different regions of the United States (Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (27) and Chicago, Illinois (36)), which looked for bacteria in bile, in the gallbladder wall and in liver parenchyma, found Propionibacterium acnes to be the most common anaerobic species. Since Propionibacterium acnes is a typical representative of a resident skin and mouth flora, the flora adherent to gallbladder mucosa and to gallstones may differ from bacteria found exclusively in bile. Actinomycetes species have been cultured from the center of human gallstones (37), but the description of the isolated bacteria presented is typical for Propionibacteria, which are both closely related and genetically similar to Actinomycetes (38). Using PCR with subsequent cloning and sequencing of bacterial ribosomal RNA genes isolated from "sterile" cholesterol gallstones, Propionibacterium was found to represent the major fraction of the anaerobic sequences in Germany (39) and China (40). Thus, the intestinal bacteria may not be the only source of bacteria in bile.

6. ROUTES OF BACTERIAL INFECTION

6.1. Ascending infection

Under normal conditions, the sphincter of Oddi forms an effective barrier to ascending bacterial migration (41). Free-flowing bile also inhibits colonization (42). In cases of bile stasis, in the presence of intestinal bacterial overgrowth, and in cases of dysfunction of the papilla of Vater, as is typical for patients with duodenal diverticula, an ascending infection is much more likely (43). A high incidence of gallstones in patients with juxtapapillary diverticula is well documented (44-48). Sphincterotomy or biliary-enterostomies allow the free reflux of duodenal contents into the biliary tree and is associated with an increase in brown pigment stone formation and bile duct strictures.

6.2. Portal source of infection

Infusion of high concentrations of E.coli into the systemic circulation, the peri-duodenal lymphatics and the portal circulation of guinea pigs indicated that portal venous blood was the most likely source of infection (49). Similar results with different concentrations of E.coli were obtained in cats (50) and rats (51).

6.3. Systemic infection

In patients with acute cholangitis, similar bacterial strains were isolated from bile and blood samples, documenting the bacterial migration from bile to blood (52). It is also possible that bacterobilia can result from bacteraemia documented in cases of typhoid fever. Transient bacteraemia with intestinal bacteria is a frequent

event during endoscopic investigations. Blood cultures obtained 5 minutes after choledochofiberoscopy were positive for bacteria in 15% of patients, with maximal bacteria counts demonstrable in cultures taken 15 minutes after the investigations. Escherichia coli, Enterococci and Klebsiella species were most frequently recovered. However, the origin of the bacterobilia is possibly intestinal and not biliary.

7. FACTORS CONTROLLING BILIARY INFECTION

7.1. Obstruction

The healthy hepatobiliary tree has a remarkable ability to remove portal bacteraemia. The organisms are quickly eliminated into by the reticulo-endothelial system and may also be discharged down the bile duct into the gut (51). Experiments on cats with and without biliary obstruction using different concentrations of E.coli bacteria (54) showed that, in the absence of biliary obstruction, the feline liver was capable of trapping 10^2 to 10^5 E.coli delivered in 1 hr in reticulo-endothelial system. As more bacteria entered the portal circulation, the clearance mechanism was saturated and bacteria began to appear in biliary tract. Thus, in unobstructed animals, bacteria could be found in bile only if high concentrations of bacteria were applied. In chronic obstruction, the biliary tract is vulnerable to bacterial infection with bacteria excreted at an earlier time and in larger quantities (54, 55). Investigations into bacterial translocation in humans (56) with and without obstructive jaundice, as compared to 6.5% and 3.5%, respectively, in controls with chronic cholecystitis.

7.2. Foreign bodies

Besides stasis, foreign bodies in the biliary tract were shown to facilitate bacterobilia. Implants of rubber and silicon pieces in the temporarily occluded rat biliary tract (55) led to bacterial colonization and biofilm formation on the surface of implanted material and on the mucosal surface of the biliary tract, but not in the biliary tract mucosa of rats without implants. Bile cultures and SEM examination of implanted human cholesterol gallstones, polyethylene tubes, and the corresponding gallbladder mucosa in cats were negative in the first two weeks after the implantation. At six weeks, bacterial colonization and proliferation led to formation of bacterial biofilm (detected with SEM) on the polyethylene tubes and the gallstones. With further proliferation of bacteria, the microorganisms started to disperse into the bile and resulted in suppurative cholangitis and positive bile cultures. The bile ducts were plugged with biliary sludge. Adherent bacterial biofilms were then demonstrated on the mucosal surface. This experiment showed that transient bacterobilia exists in the feline biliary tract. The foreign body implants permitted the adhesion and retention of transient biliary bacteria on their surfaces and initiated the formation of adherent biofilms by these bacteria, which persisted until the system was sampled (54).

7.3. Host immunity

Little is known about host immunity in gallstone disease. Older age has a significant effect on rate of positive bile cultures among patients with symptomatic gallstones (57, 58). Bile secretory immunglobulin-A concentrations of patients with biliary infections were remarkably lower than either those of patients without biliary infection or those of normal controls (59). On the other hand, bacterial infection of the biliary tree may stimulate bile duct cells to increase bile volume to inhibit hepatocytic transport activity of bile acids and bilirubin, contributing to mucosal clearance of bacteria (60).

7.4. Bacterial pathogenicity

The analysis of 20 species of bacteria recovered from pigment and mixed cholesterol gallstones showed that all had P1 fimbriae and alpha-galactosyl residues and non-mannose specific fimbriae (20). Unfortunately, these observations were not followed with further studies. To date, there have been no formal and focused studies addressing the molecular-genetic or phenotypic pathogenicity-related properties of biliary E.coli (the main species found in bile with cholangitis) or of other biliary bacterial species.

8. MECHANISMS OF BACTERIA-INDUCED LITHOGENESIS

Gallstones are created when the constituents of the bile precipitate out of solution. One of the possibilities to trace the role of bacteria in pathogenesis of gallstones is to investigate the potential contribution of bacterial metabolism to the precipitation of the different substances that comprise gallstones.

8.1. Biochemical properties of bacteria contributing to lithogenesis

8.1.1. Beta-glucuronidase

The early observation that brown pigment gallstones with a characteristically high content of calcium bilirubinate are often associated with Escherichia coli infection led to an assumption that bacterial beta-glucuronidase may be involved in bacterial lithogenesis by facilitating the deconjugation of bilirubin diglucuronide to free bilirubin in bile, which may then precipitate as calcium bilirubinate and act as a nidus for brown pigment gallstone formation. Subsequent experiments in which E.coli was incubated with human bile showed that sediment consisting chiefly of calcium bilirubinate was produced (61). Beta-glucuronidase is today the most accepted and affirmed mechanism of bacterial involvement in the gallstones pathogenesis (62-67). In dogs, where spontaneous bacterobilia is common, brown pigment stones could be produced simply by narrowing the cystic duct with ligatures. In all cases of thus newly formed stones, beta-glucuronidase-producing Streptococci and Staphylococci were found in the bile, gallbladder and liver. Alternatively, gallstones have been produced in animal models by injection of E. coli into the spleen (6).

In selected cases, bile infection was documented as an initial event in the pathogenesis of brown pigment stones in humans (68). In Connecticut, two cases have been reported of infants less than 3 months of age, who presented with obstructive jaundice and cholelithiases. Neither infant had any congenital anatomic abnormality of the biliary tract leading to stasis, and yet both had cultures of gallbladder bile that grew abundant bacteria. In both cases, unconjugated bilirubin accounted for a large percentage of the total bile biliary pigments measured. Bacterial beta-glucuronidase activity was high in both cases (69). Similar experience has been reported from France (70).

8.1.2. Phospholipase

Both calcium palmitate, which is detected in considerable amounts (about 15% by dry weight) in brown pigment gallstones, and fatty acids (10-20% of brown pigment stone content) have been linked to bacterial phospholipase activity (71). Phospholipase releases palmitic acid and fatty acids from phosphatidylcholine, which then may combine with ionized calcium. Since fatty acids are both saturated and unsaturated (72). Since saturated fatty acids, even when ionized, have lower aqueous solubility than unsaturated fatty acids a preferential precipitation of calcium palmitate results (73). The phospholipase activity was found to be elevated in common duct bile of patients with recurrent common duct stones (71). The mean phospholipase activity in the infected bile was significantly higher than in the absence of bacteria (73).

8.1.3. Bile acids and bacterial hydrolases

Bile acids play an important role in solubilizing cholesterol, and they participate in the solubilization of bilirubin. A decreased concentration of bile salts in the bile diminishes micellar solubilization of bilirubin as well as cholesterol, favoring the formation of gallstones. Bile acids present in normal bile are almost exclusively in the conjugated form. Bacterial hydrolases can deconjugate bile acids side chains, and thus facilitate both active and passive absorption of free bile acids. Bile acid levels were significantly reduced in bile of patients with brown pigment gallstones. Significantly elevated concentrations of free bile acids were also found in brown pigment stones with sterile bile, but not in cholesterol gallstones, leading to the conclusion that elevated concentrations of bile acids can be used as a surrogate to document previous bacterial metabolism (74).

8.3. Mucin

Mucin is an important constituent of gallstones. It could be shown in experimental and human gallstone disease that mucin secreted by the gallbladder and biliary duct epithelium can function as a pro-nucleating agent, providing a framework upon which precipitates or crystals can grow and work later as a bridging and coagulation factor to solidify amorphous material into shaped gallstones (75-81). Gallbladders with brown pigment stones and combinations stones with a brown periphery contained more copious mucin in the mucosal tissue than did gallbladders with cholesterol gallstones (82). The secretion and properties of mucin can be profoundly influenced by biliary infection *via* prostaglandins, lipopolysaccharides and other bacterial toxins, the secondary inflammatory response, and toxic metabolites.

8.4. Prostaglandin

Prostaglandins are known to stimulate mucin release in the gastrointestinal tract. In vivo, high concentrations of prostaglandins and hexosamine were found to be significantly higher in a severe cholecystitis group than in the mild group and higher in infected bile than in non-infected bile (83). In vitro, prostaglandins stimulate mucin secretion from gallbladder epithelial cell cultures (84).

8.5. Cellular inflammatory response

There is a direct correlation between the number of colonies present per ml of choledochal bile and the severity of biliary disease. Patients with acute cholangitis had significantly more pyocites present in choledochal bile, as compared to patients with gallstones or to patients with CBD stones without cholangitis (85).

8.6. Lipopolysaccharides

The investigation of the interrelationship between bile lipopolysaccharides (LPS) concentrations and betaglucuronidase activity from samples obtained during endoscopic retrograde cholangiography (ERC) demonstrated very high concentrations of LPS to be a significant predictor of common duct stones independent of beta-glucuronidase levels or the presence of juxtapapillary diverticula. These observations led to the conclusion that, in choledocholithiasis, gram-negative bacteria can produce pathogenetic factors other than betaglucuronidase activity (86). LPS of E.coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Pseudomonas aeruginosa stimulates the secretion of mucin in cultured dog gallbladder epithelial cells (87). It is likely that other inflammatory cytokines, activated by the presence of bacterial products such as LPS, may have an effect on biliary epithelial cell secretion.

8.7. Oxycholesterols

Recently, oxidized species of cholesterol have been found in human bile and gallstones. These are likely to be a product of leucocytic peroxidation of biliary cholesterol, as a consequence of chronic bacterial infection, as when a biofilm is present. Interestingly, most of the sterols in brown pigment gallstones, hitherto thought to be cholesterol, are in fact found to be oxysterols. The amount of oxysterols in pigment gallstones correlated with the quantity of bacterial DNA present in these stones, suggesting that there is a causal relationship (88). This finding raises interesting and provocative speculations concerning the long-term sequelae of stones with bacteria. A number of oxysterols have been shown to be cytotoxic, pro-inflammatory, and carcinogenic. Whether these compounds are etiologically related to cellular inflammation, fibrosis and cancer formation has not been studied.

8.9. Bacterial biofilm

Endoprostheses blockage, recurrent jaundice and cholangitis are often complications of biliary stents. Macroscopically, the material in blocked stents resembles biliary sludge and is composed of bacteria and amorphous material with embedded crystals of calcium bilirubinate, calcium palmitate, and cholesterol. At high magnification, the material embedding bacteria can be seen to be arranged radially around the microorganisms, thus differing from the randomly distributed mucus or cell debris, leading to the conclusion that the formation of a bacterial biofilm and the trapping of additional bacteria, bile, and intestinal components is the primary pathogenic factor (89-91). E.coli, Proteus mirabilis and Enterococci were often isolated from blocked biliary stents (26, 32).

The pathogenicity of bacterial beta-glucuronidase has been proposed in the process of biliary stent clogging, on the basis of the observation that one-third of the isolates were beta-glucuronidase producing bacteria (26). However, this hypothesis was not supported by the findings in an *in vitro* model (92), in which cholesterol or brown pigment stones could be found within biliary stents (93). Endoprostheses perfused with artificially contaminated bile contained significantly more sludge than those perfused with sterile bile. The amount of sludge varied with the bacterial species used. Endoprostheses perfused with bacteria producing beta-glucuronidase activity were not associated with a particularly large amount of sludge (92).

8.10. Intestinal Bacteria

Some studies have suggested that there is an excess of deoxycholic acid (DCA) in the bile acid pool with cholesterol supersaturation of bile being prevalent in patients with cholesterol gallstones (94, 95). Others have not found this to be so (96). One possible explanation for this increase is a conversion of cholic acid (CA) to DCA by intestinal bacteria and enrichment of bile acid pool with more DCA than CA. The search for potential

causes of DCA excess revealed that the fecal anaerobic microflora of these patients contained a high level of CA-7alpha-dehydroxylating activity and 1000-fold increased counts of CA-7alpha-dehydroxylating bacteria. The suppression of this microflora by oral intake of ampicillin reverted CA-DCA metabolism nearly to normal (97). The analysis of fecal flora from patients with gallstone disease and controls showed that all isolated 7alpha-dehydroxylating bacteria belong to the genus Clostridium in gallstones patients. No 7alpha-dehydroxylating bacteria could be isolated from a small number of controls using the same isolation technique. Thus, the intestinal microflora may be an important factor for cholesterol gallstone formation in a subgroup of patients (98). Experiments based on comparison of germfree and conventional or mono-contaminated mice demonstrated that the intestinal bacteria could also enhance the secretion of bile acids and inhibit gallstone formation (99).

9. PIGMENT VS: CHOLESTEROL CHOLELITHIASIS FROM THE DEVELOPMENTAL POINT OF VIEW. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Our knowledge of gallstone pathogenesis is based on analysis of gallstones, bile and the biliary tree at the time of cholecystectomy, autopsy data, in vitro tests and experiments with young animals. Gallstone formation in humans, however, occurs preferentially among older patients and takes years or decades. The vast majority of events that occur in the time between cholesterol crystal nucleation and stone extraction is not observable by direct investigations. The developmental history of gallstones is incompletely understood and is reconstructed with highly speculative hypotheses.

The theory about bacterial pathogenesis of gallstones is old. The main publications between 1890 and 1960 are adequately reviewed by AJH Rains (37). However, the marked differences in composition, bacterial findings and location within the biliary tree, contrary to later belief, excluded bacteria from the list of potential mechanisms of cholesterol and black pigment stone formation. How weighty are these differences?

9.1. Appearance

The appearance of cholesterol stones in their cut-surface shows radial or radially laminated structures interrupted with concentric pigment layers alternating with layers of cholesterol and documenting different episodes of growth and resolution under changing environments. Some of the layers have a composition typical for "infectious brown pigment stones", *i.e.* calcium bilirubinate and palmitate, while others are composed of pure cholesterol. The mucin content changes from layer to layer. The concentration of bacterial DNA differs in different portions of gallstones. Most brown pigment gallstones are composed of amorphous, structurally unformed material. Only small portions of brown pigment stones have a concentric structure and are possibly older. They are then presumably found only in the gallbladder. The high grade of structural organization of cholesterol gallstones and the lack of such in most brown pigment stones indicates that age may be the main difference between them. Abundant literature follows the development of composite stones over years, and it is obvious that their differently composed layers cannot emerge simultaneously. On the other hand, brown pigment stones can emerge within weeks (69).

9.2. Location in the biliary tree

Although the significant proportion of brown pigment stones in East Asia form in the gallbladder, brown pigment gallstones are found preferentially in the common duct regardless of their geographical distribution. Obstruction of the common duct is more likely to cause acute cholangitis and symptoms leading to ERC or surgery. Common duct stones that lead to obstruction have therefore much less time and opportunity for the processes of remodeling which take place in the gallbladder. The long-term fate of a brown pigment stone after the termination of infection remains unexplored.

9.3. Infection

20% to 30% of cholesterol stones and 50% to 100% of brown pigment stones have a positive bile culture (8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14). Molecular detection methods show that this difference is mainly quantitative and that PCR can detect bacterial sequences in almost all cholesterol gallstones. On the other hand, it is obvious that the frequency of the bacterobilia correlates with the local inflammation. Since acute cholangitis is much more probable in the common duct tract than in the gallbladder, the high frequency of bacteria in common duct gallstones is expected.

9.4. Calcium bilirubinate

Most of the bacterial species involved in cholangitis initially appear to have originated from the intestines. Betaglucuronidase is a characteristic enzyme of E.coli, but is also present in many other intestinal bacteria. High activity of bacterial beta-glucuronidase, in turn, leads to high concentrations of calcium bilirubinate in obstructing common duct stones, as part of the scenario of an unresolved cholangitis.

9.5. Calcium carbonate

10% of cholesterol stones and the average black pigment stones are opaque on abdominal flat films. The opacity is due to the presence of calcium carbonate or phosphate at levels greater than 4% of the dry weight of the gallstone. Brown pigment stones are nearly always radiolucent, as the concentration of inorganic salts in these stones is low. This difference in concentrations of calcium carbonate is usually used to stress the principal structural difference between "infectious" brown and "non-infectious" black pigment and cholesterol gallstones. However, it is not clear why bacterial infection would be negatively associated with the precipitation of calcium carbonate. Another simple explanation is also possible. Since the opacity of gallbladder stones tends to grow with years, it is imaginable that the differences in concentrations of inorganic salts found in brown pigment and cholesterol or black pigment gallstones represent the differences in the age of the gallstones.

Although it is obvious that cholesterol and pigment gallstones follow divergent etiologic pathways, similar pathogenic mechanisms work simultaneously, and may overlap at different times to shape individual morphological and chemical characteristics. It is also possible that many pathogenetic links are still unknown, and that there are other factors working in concert to produce stones in different parts of the biliary apparatus.

10. REFERENCES

1. Nielsen M.L. & T. Justensen: Anaerobic and aerobic bacteriological studies in biliary tract disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 11, 437-446 (1976)

2. Csendes A., P. Burdiles, F. Maluenda, C. Diaz, P. Csendes & N. Mitru: Simultaneous bacteriologic assessment of bile from gallbladder and common bile duct in control subjects and patients with gallstones and common duct stones. *Arch Surg* 131, 389-394 (1996)

3. Paelke A., V. Lenk & V. Schneider: Erste Ergebnisse zur bakteriellen Kontamination von Gallenblasen nach rehtsmedizinischer Asservierung. *Beitr Gerichtl Med* 47, 497-502 (1989)

4. Hancke E., A. Nusche & G. Marklein: Bacteria in the Gallbladder wall and in gallstones. *Langenbecks Arch Chir* 368, 249-254 (1986)

5. Frey C.F., R. Freter & A. Arbor: Gallstone Formation in the conventional mouse. The role of bacteria. *Am J Surg* 116, 868-871 (1968)

6. Hancke E. & G. Marklein: Experimental Gallstone formation. Etiological significance of β-glucuronidase producing bacteria and biliary obstruction. *Langenbecks Arch Chir* 359, 257-264 (1983)

7. Cavallini A., C. Messa, V. Mangini, M. Linsalata, V. Guerra, G. Misciagna & A.D. Leo: Prevalence of pigment gallstones in sheep. *Am J Vet Res* 52, 2043-2045 (1991)

8. Matin M.A., K. Kunitomo, S. Yada, Y. Miyoshi, T. Matsumura & N. Komi: Biliary stones and bacteriae in bile study in 211 consecutive cases. *Tokushima J exp Med* 36, 11-16 (1989)

9. Tabata M. & F. Nakayama: Bacteria and gallstones: Etiological significance. Dig Dis Sci 26, 218-224 (1981)

10. Vitetta L., A. Sali, V. Moritz, A. Shaw, P. Carson, P. Little & A. Elzarka: Bacteria and gallstone nucleation. *Aust N Z J Surg* 59, 571-577 (1989)

11. Nakayama F.: Intrahepatic calculi: A special problem in east Asia. World J Surg 6, 802-804 (1982)

12. Chijiiwa K., H. Ichimiya, S. Kuroki, A. Koga & F. Nakayama: Late development of cholangiocarcinoma after the treatment of hepatolithiasis. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 177, 279-282 (1993)

13. Cetta F.: The role of bacteria in pigment gallstone disease. Ann Surg 213, 315-326 (1991)

14. Edlund Y.A., B.O. Mollstedt & Ö. Ouchterlony: Bacteriological investigation of the biliary system and liver in biliary tract disease correlated to clinical data and microstructure of the gallbladder and liver. *Acta Chir Scand* 116, 461-475 (1959)

15. Csendes A., M. Becerra, P. Burdiles, I. Demian, K. Bancalari & P. Csendes: Bacteriological studies of bile from gallbladder in patients with carcinoma of the gallbladder, cholelithiasis, common bile duct stones and no gallstones disease. *Eur J Surg* 160, 363-367 (1994)

16. Stewart L., A.L. Smith, A.C. Pellegrini, R.W. Motson & L.W. Way: Pigment gallstones form as a composite of bacterial microcolonies and pigment solid. *Ann Surg* 206, 242-250 (1987)

17. Kaufman H.S., T.H. Magnuson, K.D. Lillemoe, P. Frasca & H.A. Pitt: The role of bacteria in gallbladder and common duct stone formation. *Ann Surg* 209, 584-592 (1989)

18. Smith A.L., L. Stewart, R. Fine, C.A. Pellegrini & L.W. Way: Gallstone disease, the clinical manifestations of infectious stones. *Arch Surg* 124, 629-633 (1989)

19. Leung J.W.C., J. Y. Sung & J. W. Costerton: Bacteriological and electron microscopy examination of brown pigment stones. *J Clin Microb* 27, 915-921 (1989)

20. Wetter L.A., R.M. Hamadeh, J.M. Griffiss, A. Oesterle, B. Aaagaard & L.W. Way: Differences in outer membrane characteristics between gallstone-associated bacteria and normal bacterial flora. *Lancet* 343, 444-448 (1994)

21. Uetera Y., T.Yokota, K. Hiramutsu, K. Sato, & M. Ogawa: Role of bacterial biofilms in the chemotherapy of cholangitis with brown pigment stones. *Chemotherapy* 42, 363-373 (1996)

22. Potera C : Forging a link between biofilms and disease. Science 283, 1837-1839 (1999)

23. Leung J.W., Y.L.Liu, T. Desta, E Libby., J.F. Inciardi, & K. Lam: Is there a synergistic effect between mixed bacterial infection in biofilm formation on biliary stents? *Gastrointest Endosc* 48, 250-257 (1998)

24. Lee D.K., P.I. Tarr, W.G. Haigh & S.P. Lee: Bacterial DNA in mixed cholesterol gallstones. *Am J Gastroenterol* 94, 3502-3506 (1999)

25. Swidsinski A., M. Khilkin, H. Pahlig, S. Swidsinski, & F. Priem: Time dependent changes in the concentration and type of bacterial sequences found in cholesterol gallstones. *Hepatology* 27, 662-665 (1998)

26. Speer A.G., P.B. Cotton, J. Rode, A.M. Seddon, C.R. Neal & J.W. Costerton: Biliary stent blockage with bacterial biofilm, a light and electron microscopy study. *Ann Intern Med* 108, 546-553 (1988)

27. Goodhart G.L., M. E. Levison, B. W. Trotman & R. D. Soloway: Pigment vs cholesterol cholelithiasis: Bacteriology of gallbladder stone, bile, and tissue correlated with biliary lipid analysis. *Am J Dig Dis* 23, 877-882 (1978)

28. Soloway R.D., B.W. Trotman & J.D. Ostrow: Pigment gallstones. Gastroenterology 72, 167-182 (1977)

29. Kosowski K., E. Karczewska, A. Kasprowicz, J. Andziak, PB. Heczko: Bacteria in bile of patients with bile duct inflammation: *Eur J Clin Microbiol* 6, 575-578 (1987)

30. Csendes A., N. Mitru, F. Maluenda, JC. Diasz, P. Burdiles, P. Csendes, E. Pinones: Counts of bacteria and pyocites in choledochal bile in controls and in patients with gallstones of common bile duct stones with and without acute cholangitis. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 43, 800-806 (1996)

31. Brook I.: Aerobic and anaerobic microbiology of biliary tract disease. J Clin Microbiol 27, 2373-2375 (1989)

32. Pitt H.A., R.G. Postier & J.L. Cameron: Biliary bacteria. Arch Surg 117, 445-449 (1982)

33. Skar V., A.G. Skar, T. Midtvedt, T. Lotveit & M. Osnes: Beta-glucuronidase producing bacteria in bile from the common bile duct in patients treated with endoscopic papillotomy for gallstone disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 21, 253-256 (1986)

34. Sakaguchi Y., K. Murata & M. Kimura: Clostridium perfringens and other anaerobes isolated from bile. *J Clin Pathol* 36, 345-349 (1983)

35. Brismar B., K. Jalakas, A.S. Malmborg & A Strandberg: The significance of bacteriological findings at cholecystectomy. *Acta Chir Scand* 530, 35-38 (1986)

36. Flinn W.R., D.F. Olson, R. Oyasu & J.M. Beal: Biliary bacteria and hepatic histopathologic changes in gallstone disease. *Ann Surg* 185, 593-593 (1977)

37. Rains A.J.H., G.J. Barson, N. Crawford & J.F.D. Shrewsburg: Achievement and bacteriologic study of gallstones. The presence of actinomycete. *Lancet* 2, 614-618 (1960)

38. Soloway R.D., R.S. Crowther: Bacteria and Cholesterol Gallstones. Gastroenterology 108, 934-936 (1995)

39. Swidsinski A., W. Ludwig, H. Pahlig, & F. Priem: Molecular genetic evidence of bacterial colonization of cholesterol gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 108, 860-864 (1995)

40. Wu X., L. Xiao & J. Li: Detection of bacterial DNA from cholesterol gallstones by NP-PCR and its clinical significance. *Chung-Hua Wai Ko Tsa Chih* 35, 663-636 (1997)

41. Sung J.Y., M.E. Olson, J.W.C. Leung, M.S. Lundberg & J.W. Costerton: The sphincter Oddi is a boundary for bacteria colonization in the feline biliary tract. *Micro Ecology Health Dis* 3, 199-208 (1990)

42. Sung J.Y., J.W. Costerton & E.A. Shaffer: Defense system in the biliary tract against bacterial infection. *Dig Dis Sci* 37, 689-696 (1992)

43. Cox J.L., L.R. Helfrich, H.I. Pass, S. Osterhaut & W.W. Shingleton: The relationship between biliary tract infection and postoperative complications. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 146, 233-236 (1978)

44. Suzuki N., H. Yamaguchi, W. Takahashi & T. Sato: Peripapillary duodenal diverticulum and biliary tract diseases. *Jpn J Surg* 14, 479-485 (1984)

45. Sandstad O., T. Osnes, V. Scar, P. Urdal & M. Osnes: Common bile duct stones are mainly brown and associated with duodenal diverticula. *Gut* 35, 1464-1467 (1994)

46. Lotveit T., O.P. Foss & M. Osnes: Biliary pigment and cholesterol calculi in patients with and without juxtapapillary duodenal diverticula. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 16, 241-244 (1981)

47. Lotveit T.: The composition of biliary calculi in patients with juxtapapillary duodenal diverticula. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 17, 653-656 (1982)

48. Egawa N., T. Kamisawa, Y. Tu, N. Sakaki, K. Tsuruta & A. Okamoto: The role of juxtapapillary duodenal diverticulum in the formation of gallbladder stones. *Hepatogastroenterology* 45, 917-920 (1998)

49. Dineen P.: The importance of the route of infection in experimental biliary tract obstruction. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 119, 1001-1008 (1964)

50. Sung J.Y., E.A. Schaffer, M.E. Olson, J.W.C. Leung, K. Lam & J.W. Costerton: Bacterial invasion of the biliary system by way of the portal-venous system. *Hepatology* 14, 313-317 (1991)

51. Jackaman F.R., C.M. Triggs, V. Thomas & G.R.F. Hilson: Experimental bacterial infection of the biliary tract. *Br J exp Path* 61, 369-375 (1980)

52. Leung J.W., T.K. Ling, R.C. Chan, S.W. Cheung, C.W. Lai, J.J. Sung, S.C. Chung & A.F. Cheng: Antibiotics, biliary sepsis, and bile duct stones. *Gastrointest Endosc* 40, 716-721 (1994)

53. Chen M.F. & Y.Y. Jan: Bacteremia following postoperative choledochofiberscopy - a prospective study. *Hepatogastroenterology* 43, 586-589 (1996)

54. Sung J.Y., J.W.C. Leung, M.E. Olson, M.S. Lundberg & J.W.C. Costerton: Demonstration of transient bacterobilia by foreign body implantation in feline biliary tract. *Dig Dis Sci* 36, 943-948 (1991)

55. Yu J.L., R. Andersson, H. Pärsson, A. Ljungh & S. Bengmark: A bacteriologic scanning electron microscope study after implantation of foreign bodies in the biliary tract in rats. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 31, 175-181 (1996)

56. Kuzu M.A., I.T. Kale, C. Cöl, A. Tekeli, A. Tanik & C. Köksoy: Obstructive jaundice promotes bacterial translocation in humans. *Hepatogastroenterology* 46, 2159-2164 (1999)

57. Vitetta L., A. Sali & S.T. Chou: Gallstones at autopsy and cholecystectomy: A comparative study. *Aust N Z J Surg* 58, 561-568 (1988)

58. Trotman B.W. & R.D. Soloway: Pigment gallstone disease: Summary of the National Institutes of Health International Workshop. *Hepatology* 2, 879-884 (1982)

59. Yio Y.Y., B. Jin, F.Z. Yin & X.J. Li: Bile secretory Immunglobulin A in biliary infection and cholelithiasis. *Gastroenterology* 102, 1000-1008 (1992)

60. Nishida T., M. Nakahara, K. Nakao & H. Matsuda: Biliary bacterial infection decreased the secretion of bile acids and bilirubin into bile. *Am J Surg* 177, 38-41 (1999)

61. Maki T.: Pathogenesis of calcium bilirubinate gallstone: Role of E.coli, ß-glucuronidase and coagulation by inorganic ions, polyelectrolytes and agitation. *Ann Surg* 164, 90-100 (1966)

62. Blanckaert N., F. Compernolle, P. Leroy, R. VanHoutte, J. Fevery & K.P.M. Heirwegh: The fate of bilirubin IX glucuronide in cholestasis and during storage in vitro: intramolecular rearrangement to positional isomers of glucuronic acid. *Biochem J* 125, 203-214 (1971)

63. Masuda H. & F. Nakayama: Composition of bile pigment in gallstones and bile and their etiological significance. *J Lab Clin Med* 93, 353-360 (1979)

64. Smith B.F. & J.T. LaMont: Bovine gallbladder mucin binds bilirubin in vitro. *Gastroenterology* 85, 707-712 (1983)

65. Skar V. & H. Saxerholt: High-performance liquid chromatography of bilirubin conjugates in bile: effect of βglucuronidase on the bile pigments. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 24, 657-665 (1989)

66. Skar V., A.G. Skar, J. Bratlie & M. Osnes: Beta-glucuronidase activity in the bile of gallstone patients both with and without duodenal diverticula. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 24, 205-212 (1989)

67. Carey M.C.: Pathogenesis of gallstones. Am J Surg 165, 410-419 (1993)

68. Cetta F.M.: Bile infection documented as initial event in the pathogenesis of brown pigment biliary stones. *Hepatology* 6, 482-489 (1986)

69. Treem W., P.F. Malet, G.R. Gourley & J.S. Hyams: Bile and stone analysis in two infants with brown pigment gallstones and infected bile. *Gastroenterology* 96, 519-23 (1989)

70. Alissa K., P. Saunier, M Russo & J. Vedrenne: Neonatal cholestatic lithiasis associated with E.coli infection. *Arch Pediatr* 3, 144-146 (1996)

71. Cetta F. & F. Lombardo: The possible role of phospholipase in gallstone pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology* 101, 592-593 (1991)

72. Robins S.J., J.M. Fasulo & G.M. Patton: Lipids of pigment gallstones. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 712, 21-25 (1982)

73. Nakano T., J. Yanagisawa & F. Nakayama: Phospholipase activity in human bile. *Hepatology* 8, 1560-1564 (1988)

74. Akiyoshi T. & F. Nakayama: Bile acid composition in brown pigment stones. Dig Dis Sci 35, 27-32 (1990)

75. Bouchier I.A.D., S.R. Cooperbrand & B.M. EI Kodsi: Mucus substances and viscosity of normal and pathologic bile. *Gastroenterology* 49, 343-345 (1965)

76. Maki T., T. Matsushiro, N. Suzuki & N. Nakamura: Role of sulfated glycoprotein in gallstone formation. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 132, 846-854 (1971)

77. LaMont J.T., B.S. Turner, D. BiBenedetto, R. Hadin & A.I. Schafer: Arachidonic acid stimulates mucin secretion in prairie dog gallbladder. *Am J Physiol* 245, 92-98 (1983)

78. LaMont J.T., B.F. Smith & J.R.L. Moore: Role of gallbladder mucin in pathophysiology of gallstones. *Hepatology* 4, suppl.: 51-56 (1984)

79. Yeh H.Z., G.H. Chen, Y.P. Cheng, C.C. Wu & T.J. Liu: The analysis of stone formation factors in bile juice: Emphasis on bile viscosity and mucin glycoprotein. *Clin J Gastroeneterol* 10, 149-159 (1993)

80. Afdhal N.H.: Cholesterol crystal nucleation: A decade long search for missing link in gallbladder pathogenesis. *Hepatology* 11, 699-702 (1990)

81. Lee S.P.: Hypersecretion of mucus glycoprotein by gallbladder epithelium in experimental cholelithiasis. *J Pathol* 134, 199-207 (1981)

82. Sheen P.Ch., K.T. Lee & Y.E. Liu: Mucin content in gallbladders with brown pigment stones or combination stones with brown periphery. *Digestion* 59, 660-664 (1998)

83. Inque T. & Y. Mishima: The pathophysiological characteristics of bile from patients with gallstones: the role of prostaglandins and mucin in gallstone formation. *Jpn J Surg* 20, 10-18 (1990)

84. Kuver R., C. Savard; D. Oda & S.P. Lee: PGE generates intracellular cAMP and accelerates mucin secretion by cultured dog gallbladder epithelial cells. *Am J Phys* 267, 998-1003 (1994)

85. Csendes A., N. Mitru, F. Maluenda, J.C. Diaz, P. Burdiles, P. Csendes & E. Pinones: Counts of bacteria and pyocites of choledochal bile in controls and in patients with gallstones or common bile duct stones with or without acute cholangitis. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 43, 800-806 (1996)

86. Osnes T., O. Sandstad, V. Scar & M. Osnes: Lipopolysaccharides and beta-glucuronidase activity in choledochal bile in relation to choledocholithiasis. *Digestion* 58, 437-443 (1997)

87. Choi J., J.H. Klinkspoor, T. Yoshida & S.P. Lee: Lipopolysaccharide from Escherichia coli stimulates mucin secretion by cultured dog gallbladder epithelial cells. *Hepatology* 29, 1352-1357 (1999)

88. Haigh W.G. & S.P. Lee: Identification of oxysterols in human bile and pigment gallstones. *Gastroenterology*, in press (2001)

89. Leung J.W.C., T.W.K. Ling, J.L.S. Kung & J. Vallance-Owen: The role of bacteria in the blockage of biliary stent. *Gastrointest Endosc* 34, 19-22 (1988)

90. Sung J.Y., J.W. Leung, E.A. Shaffer, K. Lam & J.W. Costerton: Bacterial biofilm brown pigment stones and blockage of biliary stents. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 8, 28-34 (1993)

91. Dowidar N., F. Moesgaard & P. Matzen: Clogging and other complications of endoscopic biliary endoprostheses. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 26, 1132-1136 (1991)

92. Dowidar N., H.J. Kolmos & P. Matzen: Experimental clogging of biliary endoprostheses: role of bacteria, endoprostheses material, and design. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 27, 77-80 (1992)

93. Groen A.K., T. Out, K. Huibregste, B. Delzenne, F.J. Hoek & G.N.J. Tytgat: Characterization of the content of occluded biliary endoprostheses. *Endoscopy* 19, 57-59 (1987)

94. Berr F., M. Mayer, M.F. Sackmann, T. Sauerbruch, J. Holl, G. Paumgartner: Pathogenetic factors in early recurrence of cholesterol Gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 106, 215-224 (1994)

95. Berr F., E. Fratschke, S. Fischer, G. Paumgartner: Disorders of bile acid methabolism in cholesterol gallstone disease. *J Clin Invest* 90,859-868 (1992)

96. Juengst D., I. Mueller; G.A. Kullak-Ublick, G. Meyer, E. Frimberger & S. Fischer: Deoxycholic acid is not related to lithogenic factors in gallbladder bile. *J Lab Clin Med* 133, 370-377 (1999)

97. Berr F., G.A. Kullak-Ublick, G. Paumgarner, W. Münzig & Ph.B. Hylemon: 7alpha dehydroxylating bacteria enhance deoxycholic acid input and cholesterol saturation of bile in patients with gallstones. *Gastroenterology* 111, 1611-1620 (1996)

98. Wells J.E., F. Berr, L.A. Thomas, R.H. Dowling, P.B. Hylemon: Isolation and characterization of cholic acid 7alpha-dehydroxylating fecal bacteria from cholesterol gallstone patients. *J Hepatol* 32, 4-10 (2000)

99. Hosomi M., N. Tanida & T. Shimoyama: The role of intestinal bacteria in gallstone formation in animal model. A study on biliary lipid composition and bile acid profiles in bile, small intestinal contents and feces of clostridium butyricum miyairi No. 588 monocontaminated mice. *Gastr Jap* 17, 316-323 (1982)

Key Words: Bacteria, Infection, Gallstone, Pathogenesis, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Sum P. Lee, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, University of Washington School of Medicine, 1959 NE Pacific St., and the Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Seattle, WA 98195, USA Tel: 49 30 450 514 102, Fax: 49 30 450 514 923 E-mail: www.alexander.swidsinski@charite.de